

#### Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

## Talanta





#### Review

## A review of enzymatic uric acid biosensors based on amperometric detection

## Pınar Esra Erden\*, Esma Kılıç

Ankara University, Faculty of Science, Department of Chemistry, 06100 Tandoğan, Ankara, Turkey

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history:
Received 18 October 2012
Received in revised form
14 January 2013
Accepted 16 January 2013
Available online 1 February 2013

Keywords:
Uric acid
Biosensor
Electrochemical
Amperometry
Uricase
Horseradish peroxidase

#### ABSTRACT

This review summarizes the studies carried on the development of amperometric uric acid biosensors over the past twenty years. Sensing principles, enzyme immobilization techniques, the electrode types, different approaches and various matrices used for biosensor fabrication are presented along with their benefits and limitations. Uric acid biosensors based on different modes of transducing devices such as optical, potentiometric, conductometric are also referred.

© 2013 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### **Contents**

1.	Introduction	312					
2.	Amperometic detection	313					
	2.1. O <sub>2</sub> detection						
	2.2. $H_2O_2$ detection	314					
3.	Enzyme modified electrodes	316					
	3.1. Immobilization techniques						
	3.2. Polymer based electrodes	316					
	3.3. Carbon paste based electrodes						
	3.4. Nanomaterial based electrodes	317					
	3.5. Self-assembled monolayer based electrodes						
	3.6. Screen printed electrodes	318					
	3.7. Langmuir-Blodgett film based electrodes	319					
4.	Uric acid biosensors based on different modes of transducing devices	319					
5.	Conclusions and future trends	314         316         316         317         ectrodes       318         318         319         odes of transducing devices       319         321					
Refe	erences	321					

#### 1. Introduction

Uric acid (2,4,6-trihydroxypurine) is an end product from purine derivatives in human metabolism [1,2]. Uric acid undergoes no further metabolism in humans and is excreted by kidneys

and intestinal tract. Serum concentration of uric acid is controlled by the balance of production and excretion [3].

The normal level of uric acid in serum is between 240 and 520  $\mu$ M and 1.4 and 4.4 mM in urinary excretion [4]. Abnormal uric acid level in biological fluids is a marker of several disorders such as gout [5,6], renal disease [7] and Lesch–Nyhan syndrome [8]. Excessive amounts of uric acid in serum is known as hyperuricemia and this has been found to be associated with hypertension [9,10], metabolic syndrome [11] and cardiovascular disease [3,12–14]. Consequently, fast and reliable determination

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author. Tel.: +90 312212672; fax: +90 3122232395. *E-mail addresses*: erdenpe@gmail.com, pinarerden@hotmail.com (P.E. Erden).

of uric acid in biological fluids is routinely required for diagnosis and treatment.

The first method developed for uric acid analysis was introduced by Offer in 1894. This method is based on the chemical oxidation of uric acid to allantoin, which reduces phosphotungstic acid to a tungsten blue chromophoric compound. However, this method suffers from several problems especially the problem of interferences due to other species capable of producing the same reaction [15]. A more selective approach is the use of uricase enzyme (UOX), which catalyzes the oxidation of uric acid to allantoin, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>. In 1941, Bulger and Johns [16] introduced a method for the determination of uric acid based on the use of uricase enzyme. This method is based on the determination of the reduction, by protein-free filtrates of an alkaline ferricyanide solution, before and after the destruction of uric acid by uricase. Alternative methods for uric acid determination have appeared since then and various techniques such as chemiluminescence [17–19], fluorescence [15], spectrophotometry [20], HPLC-mass spectrometry [21], ion chromatography [22], highperformance liquid chromatography (HPLC)/isotope dilution mass spectrometry (ID-MS) [23], capillary electrophoresisamperometry [24], capillary electrophoresis with chemiluminescence detection [25], colorimetry [26] and enzymatic test-kits have been reported. However, these methods are usually laborious, expensive, time-consuming and/or complex to perform. Therefore, there is great interest in developing inexpensive, simple and rapid methods for uric acid determination as a routine analysis. Among these techniques, the enzymatic-colorimetric method using uricase and peroxidase together is widely used in routine analysis due to its simplicity, sensitivity and specificity. Although test kits of this method are commercially available, the cost of uricase and peroxidase used in the kit is a factor that limits widespread use of the method for large number of samples.

Electrochemical methods for uric acid sensing can be classified as nonenzymatic and enzymatic methods. Uric acid is an electrochemically active compound and can be easily oxidized at common electrodes in aqueous solutions to give allantoin and CO<sub>2</sub> [27]. Differential pulse voltammetry [28,29], square wave voltammetry [4,30,31], cyclic voltammetry [32], chronoamperometry [33] are commonly used for the electrochemical detection of uric acid.

Various electrochemical sensors such as zinc-nickel nanoalloy coated composite graphite [32]; conducting polymer modified glassy carbon electrode [34]; nafion coated carbon paste electrode [35]; gold nanotubule electrode [36]; nickel hexacyanoferrate nanoparticles and multiwall nanotube modified glassy carbon electrode [37]; cysteine modified gold electrode [38]; graphene and poly(acridine red) modified glassy carbon electrode [39] have been developed for the determination of uric acid. These methods seem to be more sensitive, simple and less time-consuming than many of the other methods. Nevertheless, uric acid and ascorbic acid commonly coexist in biological fluids of humans, mainly in serum, blood and urine [28]. The major problem with electrochemical determination of uric acid is the closeness of the oxidation potentials of ascorbic acid and uric acid which results in an overlapped voltammetric response and poor selectivity [40]. Several electrochemical approaches including modified electrodes have been purposed to seperate the oxidation peaks of ascorbic acid and uric acid and reduce the interference of ascorbic acid. For instance glassy carbon electrode modified with L-cysteine monolayer assembled on gold nanoparticles [41]; conductive poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) film modified gold electrode [42]; screen-printed carbon electrode modified with nanoplatelets of graphitic oxide [43]; positively charged organoclay film and ferrocene modified glassy carbon electrode [44] were reported for the simultaneous determination of uric acid and ascorbic acid. However, most of the nonenzymatic studies for sensing uric acid showed a lower oxidized potential of ascorbic acid for comparing with uric acid. The results showed that the interference caused by ascorbic acid for monitoring uric acid with the anodic oxidation technique is still a problem. Other electrochemically oxidizable species such as dopamine and xanthine can also interfere with the analysis of uric acid. Therefore, various studies for the simultaneous determination of these species were reported [45–48].

Selectivity and sensitivity of electrochemical uric acid determination can be improved by enzyme-based electrochemical methods. The use of biosensors, which allow direct, specific. sensitive, rapid and inexpensive measurement of uric acid in samples, seems to be one method of choice. Since the initiator work of Clark and Lyons [49] there has been a rapid growth in research activities in this area and biosensors for various other substances have been developed and utilized in many applications in food industry, clinical chemistry or environmental control, industrial process control and biological warfare agents [50–52]. Biosensors can be classified as electrochemical, optical, calorimetric and piezoelectric based on the transduser used [53–55]. In electrochemical biosensors, the signal produced by the interaction of a biological element and substrate can be measured by an electrochemical detector [56]. Calorimetric biosensors are based on the measurement of heat accompanying a biochemical reaction [57]. Piezoelectric biosensors are mass sensitive and detect the change in frequency of oscillation after adsorption or desorption of analyte molecules on the surface of piezoelectric detector [58]. Optical biosensors are based on the measurement of adsorbed or emitted light resulting from a biochemical reaction [59]. Biomolecules such as enzymes, cofactors, antibodies, nucleic acids, tissues, receptors, organelles, microorganisms and animal and plant cells have been used as biological recognition elements [55.60–63]. Among these biological elements. enzymes are the most widely used recognition element due to their high selectivity, specificity and sensitivity [64].

This review aims to provide an overview of uric acid biosensors based on amperometric detection. The advantages and disadvantages associated with the electroactive species detected are discussed in detail. The enzymes widely used in uric acid biosensors, sensing principles, electrode types, various matrices for biosensor construction and enzyme immobilization techniques are also referred.

#### 2. Amperometic detection

Amperometric enzyme electrodes for uric acid determination are generally based on the determination of enzymatically generated  $\rm H_2O_2$  or the consumption of  $\rm O_2$  during the enzymatic reaction [65–69]. Uric acid determination based on  $\rm H_2O_2$  detection has received considerable interest because  $\rm H_2O_2$  can be detected either by its reduction or oxidation.

Uricase and horseradish peroxidase (HRP) enzymes are widely used in amperometric uric acid biosensors. Uricase (urate oxidase; EC 1.7.3.3) catalyzes the oxidation of uric acid to allantoin,  $CO_2$  and  $H_2O_2$  according to the reaction:

Uric acid 
$$+2H_2O + O_2 \xrightarrow{UOX} Allantoin + H_2O_2 + CO_2$$
 (1)

The enzyme exists as a tetramer composed of two types of different subunits [70]. The enzyme has been found in mammals [71,72], plants [73,74], fungi [75], yeast [76] and bacteria [77].

The degradation of uric acid varies from species to species. In humans and many other primates uricase is missing. It has been reported that the enzyme has been lost by some unknown mechanism during primate evolution [71]. Thus, uric acid is the

end product of purine catabolism in humans. Most other mammals contain urate oxidase and allantoin is excreted as the end product of purine metabolism. Birds and reptiles are also devoid of uricase, and excrete uric acid as the final product of purine degradation. Microorganisms such as bacteria and yeasts further catalyze the oxidation of uric acid to allantoin. Allantoin is hydrolyzed by allantoinase (EC 3.5.2.5) to form allantoic acid and allontoic acid is converted to urea by allantoicase (EC 3.5.3.4). The enzyme urease (EC 3.5.1.5) then converts urea to ammonia and carbon dioxide [78]. In fish liver, urate oxidase, allantoinase and allantoicase are present and uric acid is degraded to urea [79].

It has been proposed that, the loss of uricase in humans has been advantageous since uric acid is an antioxidant and scavenger of free radicals. The presence of a high serum uric acid level due to the loss of uricase activity protects the body from oxidative damage and this may decrease the cancer rate and prolong the lifetime. Another view suggests that the loss of uricase is responsible for many metabolic disorders [71]. Because an abnormal increase of human uric acid level is a causative factor of gout and many other diseases including renal problems and Lesch-Nyhan syndrome [6–8].

In uric acid biosensors uricase from different sources such as *Arthrobacter globiformis* [80], *Bacillus fastidiosus* [81], *Aspergillus niger* [82] and *Candida sp.* [83] is used as the biosensing element. The dependence of the biosensor response on the type of the uricase enzyme was also reported [84]. The uric acid biosensor based on uricase from *Candida Utilis* showed the best response while the one based on uricase from porcine liver did not show a detectable signal due to the low specific activity of the enzyme.

Horseradish peroxidase (HRP) (EC 1.11.1.7), a heme containing glycoprotein extracted from horseradish root, is the most commonly used peroxidase in analytical applications [85]. In biosensor studies many substrates have been determined using oxidase and peroxidase coupled reactions [86–88]. The oxidase enzyme oxidizes the substrate to an oxidized product and hydrogen peroxide, in the presence of oxygen. The produced hydrogen peroxide can be measured amperometrically. Hydrogen peroxide can be electrooxidized at platinum electrode with applied potential of  $+0.70 \, \text{V}$  (vs. SCE). At this high potential, other electroactive species present in the sample can also oxidize and interfere with the analysis. The use of peroxidase leads to the enzymatic reduction of  $\text{H}_2\text{O}_2$  at lower potentials which decreases interference effects [66]. The use of HRP in amperometric uric acid biosensors is discussed in Section 2.2.

### 2.1. O2 detection

 $\rm O_2$  monitoring is typically based on a Clark type  $\rm O_2$  electrode consisting of a platinum cathode, where  $\rm O_2$  is reduced, and a reference electrode, usually Ag/AgCl. When a potential of -0.60 V versus Ag/AgCl is applied to the Pt electrode,  $\rm O_2$  is reduced according to reaction (3), and a current proportional to  $\rm O_2$  concentration is produced.

Ag anode, 
$$Ag+4Cl^- \rightarrow 4AgCl+4e^-$$
 (2)

Pt cathode, 
$$O_2 + 4H^+ + 4e^- \rightarrow 2H_2O$$
 (3)

The first amperometric method for quantitative uric acid determination in biological fluids was reported by Nanjo and Guilbault [89] in 1974. In this method a platinum electrode covered with an immobilized uricase is used for the direct measurement of dissolved oxygen consumption at  $-0.60 \, \text{V}$ .

A uric acid biosensor using dithiothreitol (DDT), a reducing agent, to amplify the consumption of oxygen caused by the uricase reaction was developed [90]. In this study DDT reacts with the ternary complex (uricase, uric acid and oxygen) and uric

acid is regenerated via the ternary complex accompanied by an amplified consumption of oxygen. A biosensor based on uricase and peroxidase enzymes for uric acid determination in urine was reported [65]. The method is based on the consumption of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> by peroxidase and measurement of the decreasing of dissolved oxygen concentration. The results for uric acid concentration in urine obtained by using the biosensor were reported to be more sensitive and accurate than the results of the enzymatic kit; however the linear working range of the biosensor was narrow. No response of the common interfering compounds was reported. Uchivama and Sakamoto [91] immobilized uricase on a porous carbon felt by electropolymerization of pyrrole or aniline. The enzyme immobilized carbon felt was fixed on the gas permeable membrane of the Clark electrode and consumed oxygen was detected. The carbon felt reported to be an excellent matrix for uric acid sensing due to its porosity permitting a transfer of oxygen. A uric acid biosensor prepared from uricase immobilized eggshell membrane and oxygen electrode was reported [92]. The enzyme immobilized eggshell membrane was placed on the surface of the oxygen sensor and was kept in a steady position by an O-ring. In this method the decrease in oxygen level was monitored. Interferents such as glucose, urea, ascorbic acid, lactic acid, glycine, KCl, NaCl, CaCl2, MgSO4, and NH4Cl showed no interferences on the response of the uric acid biosensor. Uricase was immobilized onto an epoxy resin membrane and the membrane was positioned over the sensing part of the combined electrode of dissolved O2 meter [93]. The epoxy membrane was reported to be an ideal material for an enzyme electrode due to its high affinity for enzyme, high temperature stabiliy, porosity, low cost and chemical resistance. Glucose, urea, NaCl, cholesterol and ascorbic acid caused a decrease in activity, while, no effect of MgSO<sub>4</sub> and CaCl<sub>2</sub> was observed. The surface of a gold (Au) electrode was coated with uricase immobilized polystyrene membrane [94]. The uric acid determination was based on the decrease in the reduction current of oxygen and the interference of ascorbic acid was eliminated. Uricase immobilized silk fibroin membrane and an oxygen electrode in flow injection analysis was reported for amperometric uric acid analysis [95]. Interference effect of ascorbate, glucose, uric acid, urea, glutamic acid, sucrose and lactose was investigated and only interference of uric acid, lactose and ascorbate was observed.

In oxygen determination based studies, interference effect is not very common; however, the response of the electrode depends on the oxygen concentration in the solution and this can reduce the accuracy of the biosensor. The most commonly used alternative to overcome this drawback is the detection of  $H_2O_2$ . Table 1 presents a detailed comparison of significant characteristics of uric acid biosensors based on  $O_2$  detection.

#### 2.2. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> detection

Enzymatically produced  $H_2O_2$  can be detected electrochemically by amperometric electrodes, either by measuring the anodic or cathodic response, due to the oxidation (4) or reduction (5) of  $H_2O_2$  at the surface of the working electrode respectively.

$$H_2O_2 \to O_2 + 2H^+ + 2e^-$$
 (4)

$$H_2O_2 + 2e^- + 2H^+ \rightarrow 2H_2O$$
 (5)

Electrochemical oxidation of  $H_2O_2$  requires high potentials (  $> 0.40 \, \text{V}$ ). Other electroactive species (e.g. ascorbic acid, uric acid) present in the sample can also oxidize and interfere with the analysis at high potentials [66]. In the case of amperometric uric acid biosensors the most important drawback is the possible oxidation of uric acid itself-as well as of the other electroactive species present in the sample at the electrode surface such as Pt,

**Table 1**Characteristics of uric acid biosensors based on oxygen detection.

Enzyme, immobilization technique and matrix used	Uricase source	Detection limit	Linear range	Sensitivity	Stability	Response time	Applications	Ref.
UOX-HRP, glutaraldehyde crosslinking, teflon membrane	Porcine liver	0.1 μΜ	0.1-0.5 μΜ	_	17% loss after 1 month	-	Uric acid in urine	[65]
UOX, electropolymerization, porous carbon felt	Candida Utilis	$4 \times 10^{-6}  M$	$1 \times 10^{-5}$ – $4 \times 10^{-4}$ M	4.74 nA μM- 1 cm <sup>-2</sup>	5-7 days	3 min	Uric acid in serum	[91]
UOX, glutaraldehyte cross-linking, egg shell membrane	Arthrobacter globiformis	2 μΜ	4–6.4 μΜ	_	3 months	< 100 s	Uric acid in serum and urine	[92]
UOX, hydrogen bonding, epoxy resin membrane	Blacked eyed cowpea leaf	4.25 μg/mL	0.025- 0.10 mM	_	32% loss after 60 days	10-12 s	Uric acid in serum	[93]
UOX, spin coating, polystyrene membrane	Yeast	-	5–105 μM	_	13% loss after 21 days	-	_	[94]
UOX, entrapment, silk fibroin membrane	Porcine liver	-	0.2-1.0 mmol/L	_		50 s	Uric acid in serum and urine	[95]

Table 2
Characteristics of uric acid biosensors based on H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> detection.

Enzyme, immobilization technique and matrix used	Uricase source	Detection limit	Linear range	Sensitivity	Stability	Response time	Applications	Ref.
UOX-HRP, entrapment, carbon paste covered with poly(o-aminophenol)	-	$3\times 10^{-6}M$	Up to $1\times 10^{-4}\text{M}$	-	2 days	37 s	Uric acid in serum	[66]
UOX, glutaraldehyte cross-linking, polypyrrole membrane	Microorganism	$5\times 10^{-7}M$	$1 \times 10^{-6} - 5 \times 10^{-5} \mathrm{M}$	-	51% loss after 7 week	330 s	Uric acid in serum and urine	[96]
UOX, entrapment, carbon paste	Arthrobacter globiformis	$1.9\times10^{-7}\mathrm{M}$	$1 \times 10^{-6} - 1 \times 10^{-4} \mathrm{M}$	=	13% loss after 4 months	70 s	Uric acid in serum	[97]
UOX, cross-linking, self-assembled monolayer of 2-aminoethanethiolate on gold electrode	-	-	Up to $6 \times 10^{-6}  \text{M}$	$143~\text{nA}\mu\text{M}^{-1}~\text{cm}^{-2}$	1 week	2 min	-	[98]
UOX, physical adsorption, NiO film	-	0.11 mM	0.05-1.0 mM	1278.48 μA/mM	About 4 months	5 s		[99]
UOX-HRP, cross-linking, cylindrical pencil lead	Arthrobacter globiformis		$5.9 \times 10^{-7} - 1.2 \times 10^{-4} \mathrm{M}$		10 days	-	Uric acid in serum	[101]
UOX, Langmuir-Blodgett technique, chitosan/Prussian blue film	-	$1.8\times10^{-7}M$	$5 \times 10^{-6} - 1.15 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M}$	-	20%loss after 2 weeks	5–10 s	Uric acid in urine	[103]
UOX, layer-by-layer, polyelectrolyte multilayer film composed of poly(allylamine) and poly(vinylsulfate).	Candida sp.	_	$1 \times 10^{-6} - 1 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M}$	-	40% loss after 30 days	-	-	[106]

Au and carbon at high potentials, at which the electrochemical oxidation of  $H_2O_2$  occurs [66,96]. Furthermore,  $H_2O_2$  detection by its reduction can suffer from the interference of oxygen. To overcome the drawbacks encountered with the direct  $H_2O_2$  detection, alternative routes to follow the production of  $H_2O_2$  have been proposed.

A way to decrease the applied potential and thus the interference effect is the use of mediators instead of oxygen. A carbon paste enzyme electrode for uric acid determination was prepared with uricase and tetracyanoquinodimethane as mediator [97]. Working potential of the electrode was +0.34 V and it was reported that this low potential minimized the interference effect of other electroactive species as well as overcame the direct oxidation of uric acid itself. Ferrocene was dissolved in electrolyte solution and was investigated as an electron transfer mediator [98]. Enzyme immobilized Au electrode exhibited amperometric response to uric acid at a low working potential of  $+0.10 \,\mathrm{V}$  by the use of this mediator. A uric acid biosensor was developed by the electropolymerization of pyrrole and electron mediator ferrocene on Pt electrode surface was reported [96]. Uricase was immobilized onto the polymer film due to crosslinking by glutaraldehyde. In this study interference effects of ascorbic acid, uric acid, paracetemol and methionine was mentioned at  $+0.70\,V$ . Interfering effects were eliminated by the dilution of the sample. Uricase was immobilized onto the NiO thin film and this film was deposited on a platinum coated glass substrate for the development of uric acid biosensor [99].  $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-/4-}$  was used as a mediator for electron transfer from the enzyme to the electrode via NiO thin film matrix. Interference effect of glucose, cholesterol, urea, ascorbic acid and dopamine was investigated and maximum interference of 2.5% was reported. Copper oxide (CuO) thin films were grown onto platinum (Pt) coated corning glass substrates by pulsed laser deposition technique for the construction of a uric acid biosensor. In this work the CuO thin film matrix was reported as an efficient electron conducting platform due to the redox properties of  $Cu^+/Cu^{2+}$  couple. No significant effect of common interferants, like cholesterol, glucose, lactic acid, urea, and ascorbic acid, was reported on the performance of the uricase/CuO/Pt/glass electrode toward uric acid sensing [100].

Another approach to lower the working potential is the use of HRP together with uricase and to perform uric acid determination via  $\rm H_2O_2$  reduction. A reagentless uric acid biosensor was purposed by the immobilization of uricase and horseradish peroxidase in the carbon paste matrix [66]. Poly(aminophenol) was electropolymerized at the working surface of the electrode acting as the conducting polymer layer. This electrode did not suffer from the common interfering substances at an applied potential of +0.05 V. A mediated amperometric biosensor for the determination of uric acid in human serum was described [101]. UOX and HRP were co-immobilized by crosslinking with glutaraldehyde.

Ferrocenecarboxylic acid was used as the mediator and the working potential was  $+0.05\,\text{V}$ . In the interference study no effect was observed due to the electroactive species and this was attributed to the low working potential.

It was reported that Prussian blue acts as an artificial peroxidase for electroreduction of  $H_2O_2$  [102]. A uric acid biosensor based on chitosan (CS) and Prussian blue (PB) prefunctionalized indium—tin oxide (ITO) electrode was described [103]. Uricase was immobilized onto the modified electrode by Langmuir—Blodgett (LB) technique [104]. CS–PB was reported as a good electrocatalyst for the reduction of hydrogen peroxide produced by enzymatic reaction of UOX. Iveković et al. [105] developed a uric acid based on alkaline-stable  $H_2O_2$  transducer. Prussian blue was electrochemically deposited on graphite disc electrode and  $Ni^{2+}$  ions were incorparated into modified electrode. Uricase was immobilized on the surface of the modified electrode by crosslinking. In this work  $Ni^{2+}$ -modified Prussian blue was used as a catalyst for the reduction of enzymatically produced  $H_2O_2$ .

The use of  $\rm H_2O_2$  selective membranes is another approach to decrease the effect of interferences. Such a method was described by Hoshi et al. [106] using polyelectrolyte multilayer film composed of poly(allylamine) and poly(vinylsulfate). The purposed membrane functions as a permselective film in which  $\rm H_2O_2$  can pass through while interfering substances such as uric acid and ascorbic acid cannot. Keedy and Vadgama [107] immobilized uricase by crosslinking a dimethyldichlorosilane treated microporous polycarbonate membrane and an inner cellulosic  $\rm H_2O_2$  selective membrane for uric acid enzyme electrode preparation. Table 2 presents a detailed comparison of significant characteristics of various uric acid biosensors based on  $\rm H_2O_2$  detection.

#### 3. Enzyme modified electrodes

#### 3.1. Immobilization techniques

Enzyme immobilization is the key step in the construction of biosensors. The choice of the immobilization method depends mainly on the enzyme to be immobilized, the immobilization matrix and the transducing mechanism. Immobilized enzymes have many advantages such as good thermal and operational stability, reusability, continuous use, easy separation of the enzyme from product and reduced cost of operation [108]. The main disadvantage of the immobilized enzymes is the possible loss of enzyme activity during immobilization. Thus, many studies on immobilization techniques to enhance the operational and storage stability of the enzymes were reported. Immobilization can be carried out using many different procedures, such as physical adsorption, entrapment, cross-linking and covalent linking. Each immobilization method has advantages and disadvantages.

Adsorption and entrapment are the widely used physical methods for enzyme immobilization. Physical adsorption is the oldest and simplest method for enzyme immobilization. In this method the enzymes are immobilized due to weak binding forces such as Van der Waal's forces, hydrogen bonds and electrostatic interactions. However, these binding forces are susceptible to changes in pH, temperature and ionic strength. The operational and storage stability of the biosensors based on adsorbed enzymes is not satisfactory due to enzyme desorption. Enzymes can be immobilized by physical entrapment into gel, polymer or carbon paste matrices. Entrapment usually enhances the stability of the biosensor. Possible leakage of enzymes from the matrix and transport limitations offered by the entrapment material are the main drawbacks of this method. Covalent binding and cross-linking represent the chemical methods of enzyme immobilization. Covalent binding involves the formation of a stable covalent bond between functional groups of the enzymes and the support matrix. The surface of the support is generally activated with multifunctional reagents such as glutaraldehyde, tosyl chloride, carbonyldiimidazole and carbodiimide followed by the coupling of the enzyme to the activated surface. In covalent binding the strength of binding is very strong; thus, leakage of enzyme is limited. However, low reproducibility is the major limitation of the biosensors based on covalent binding. Cross-linking using bifunctional reagents like glutaraldehyde or carbodiimide is another effective and widely used method for enzyme immobilization. The major limitation of this method is the possibility of activity losses due to the distortion of the active enzyme conformation and chemical changes in the active site of the enzyme by the bifunctional reagents [109–113].

#### 3.2. Polymer based electrodes

Polymer matrices can be used both in the sensing mechanism and in the immobilization of the enzymes. Polymeric films are widely used for the immobilization of enzymes. Different types of conductive, nonconductive or composite polymeric films were purposed for amperometric biosensor designs [109,114]. Here, some selected examples of polymer based amperometric uric acid biosensors will be presented.

Conducting polymers, like polyaniline (PANi) and polypyrrole have been widely used for the fabrication of amperometric uric acid biosensor. An amperometric uric acid biosensor based on uricase immobilized in polypyrole film was reported [96]. Among other conducting polymers, polyaniline is often used as the immobilizing substrate for enzymes and as an efficient electrocatalyst. A simple and cheap procedure to immobilize enzyme into the polyaniline film was described by Mu [115]. In this one step process enzymes were entrapped into the polmer film directly. It was reported that such a process can cause enzyme activity to be affected by the aniline monomer in the solution. Another way to immobilize enzymes into polyaniline film is doping of the enzymes after the polymerization process in a two step process [116]. However it was reported that the stability of the immobilized enzymes can be affected by the distance between the particles and if the particle distance of the polymer is shorter than the diameter of the enzyme molecule enzymes are only adsorbed on the surface of the film and can easily desorb. In another study Kan et al. [67] immobilized uricase into polyaniline film by template process. In this process a polyaniline-uricase electrode was obtained by electropolymerization. The electrode was then hydrolized to remove the uricase that might be affected by aniline monomer from polyaniline film. Active uricase was immobilized into the polymer film by doping. This method overcomes the effect of the monomer on enzyme activity and avoids the stability problems due to the cavities of the polymer. Arora et al. [117] prepared an amperometric uric acid biosensor by the deposition of polyaniline on ITO glass substrates. Uricase was immobilized onto the glutaraldehyde activated polymer surface by crosslinking. Glutaraldehyde covalently binds with the end amine groups of the polyaniline film and the other end of the glutaraldehyde binds with the amino group of the enzymes. No significant effect of interferences on the response of the purposed biosensor was reported. A uricase biosensor based on poly-oaminophenol-aniline was reported [118]. Uricase was immobilized into the copolymer by the template process [67]. The stability of the purposed biosensor was found to be higher than the one prepared by the two-step process [119]. Arslan [120] prepared a polyanilinepolypyrole composite film for the estimation of uric acid. Uricase was immobilized on the composite film by crosslinking with glutaraldehyde. Interfering effect of paracetemol, glucose, urea, bilirubin and ascorbic acid was investigated and only the interference of paracetemol (31%) was reported.

The layer-by-layer (LBL) method is a simple and cheap thin film fabrication technique. Film fabrication by the LBL method is performed under mild conditions, which is important for minimizing protein denaturating and preserving biomolecule activity. Moraes et al. [121] described a uric acid biosensor fabricated by LBL technique. Indium tin oxide (ITO) glass substrate was modified with a Prussian Blue (PB) layer. Uricase enzyme was immobilized onto modified ITO substrates by layer-by-layer technique. Poly(ethyleneimine) or poly(diallyldimethylammoniumchloride) was used for film construction. The detection of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was carried out at 0.0 V by the use of PB layer. This avoided the direct oxidation of uric acid and eliminated the effect of other interferences.

Polymer membranes can also act as a protective layer, preventing electrochemically interfering compounds such as ascorbic acid, uric acid from reaching the surface of the electrode. Poly (allylamine) and poly(vinyl sulfate) polyelectrolyte multilayer film have been used as an effective barrier against the interference of ascorbic acid and uric acid [106]. After the deposition of the permselective film on the surface of platinum electrode uricase and poly(allyamine) were deposited via layer-by-layer sequential deposition up to 10 Uricase layers to prepare the amperometric biosensor. In this study uric acid determination was achieved in the presence of uric acid and ascorbic acid. Jiang et al. [82] carried out the polymerization of aniline in an ionic liquid, and then uricase was immobilized into the film by a two step process. Polyaniline film was reduced and the reduced film was transferred into the buffer containing uricase then the polymer film was oxidized at a positive potential. The uricase enzyme with negative charge was doped into the polymer film. It was reported that H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> can permeate through the polyaniline film synthesized in ionic liquid; however the film has no significant catalysis to uric acid. The film was impermeable to interfering substances. An amperometric uric acid has been developed in which polymaleimidostyrene was used as a dispersant for uricase in order to immobilize the enzyme in the polystyrene membrane [94]. A gold electrode was covered with polystyrene membrane by the spin coating method. The membrane was prepared from polystyrene solution and polymaleimidostyrene solution containing uricase enzyme. Uric acid was determined at a negative potential based on the decrease in the reduction current of dissolved oxygen. By the use of the polystyrene membrane inteference effect of ascorbic acid was also eliminated. The work suggests that a homogenous enzyme membrane can only be formed in the presence of polymaleimidostyrene. Uricase is covalently attached to polymaleimidostyrene; polymaleimidostyrene bonds the enzyme and polystyrene membrane and acts as a dispersant for the uricase. 2-Aminophenol was electropolymerized on Pt electrodes and the resulting polymeric film was reported to allow penetration of uric acid while blocking the electrochemical activity of ascorbic acid [122]. No significant effect of interfering substances such as ascorbic acid, cysteine, oxalic acid, lactose, sucrose, and urea was reported. Zhao et al. [123] reported a uric acid based on a hemoglobin encapsulated chitosan modified glassy carbon electrode. Uricase was immobilized on hemoglobin and chitosan modified electrode. Enzymatically produced H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was reduced by hemoglobin. No significant interference effect was reported. Uric acid biosensor was applied for uric acid determination in human serum samples.

In polymer based uric acid biosensors drawbacks such as the effect of the monomer on the immobilized enzyme activity, stability of the enzyme, desorption of the immobilized enzyme from the polymer film and mechanical stability of the polymer challenge researchers. Attempts and approaches should be directed toward solving these problems.

#### 3.3. Carbon paste based electrodes

Carbon paste electrodes have been widely used for electroanalytical applications since their introduction by Adams in 1958 due to their advantages such as low background current, low cost of fabrication, good electron transfer kinetics, biocompatibility and ease of modification [124]. A number of uric acid biosensors based on carbon paste matrix containing uricase and in some cases uricase and horseradish peroxidase have been reported [66,97,125]. Erden et al. [125] immobilized uricase into the carbon paste by crosslinking with bovine serum albumin and glutaraldehyde and redox mediator 1.4 benzoguinone was also incorparated into carbon paste. The described electrode showed excellent response to uric acid with very low detection limit. Another redox polymer poly(vinylferrocenium) was also used for amperometric uric acid biosensor by the same group. Poly(vinylferrocenium) was mixed with carbon paste and uricase was immobilized by crosslinking. Among the various interfering compounds investigated, ascorbic acid, glucose, urea and methionine caused significant interference and this effect was eliminated by the dilution of the sample. The use of an additional membrane in the configuration of carbon paste biosensors can also be a good choice in order to prevent undesirable interferences from electroactive species in real samples. Miland et al. [66] co-immobilized uricase and horseradish peroxidase within a carbon paste. Poly (o-aminophenol) was electropolymerized at the surface of the carbon paste acting as the conducting layer. They reported that this polymer coating also protects the electrode from interferences and fouling. Dutra et al. [97] prepared a carbon paste electrode by mixing the graphite powder, electron transfer mediator tetracyanoquinodimethane and uricase with mineral oil. This electrode was incorparated into a flow injection system and 50 measurements/h of uric acid analysis was achieved.

Carbon paste electrodes are prepared by mixing graphite powder and liquid nonelectrolytic binder. The experience of the researcher and the composition of the carbon paste are the main factors that limit the applicability of the carbon paste based biosensor. For example, the amount of the binder has to be optimized carefully since it has a great influence on the sensitivity and reproducibility of the biosensor. In carbon paste based biosensors usually a high amount of enzyme is mixed with the paste which would increase the cost of the biosensor. Moreover, carbon paste based biosensors suffer from mechanical damage during use.

#### 3.4. Nanomaterial based electrodes

Nanomaterials have found a great variety of applications owing to characteristic properties such as large surface-to-volume ratio, high surface reaction activity, high catalytic efficiency and strong adsorption ability that are useful in biosensing applications. Nanomaterials also have the unique ability of promoting fast electron transfer between electrode and the active site of the enzyme [126]. Due to their unique electrochemical, mechanical and structural properties, carbon nanotubes (CNTs) have also aroused much interest as components in biosensors [127,128]. Metal oxide nanoparticles and carbon nanotubes are widely used for the development of uric acid biosensors.

A reagentless amperometric uric acid biosensor based on functionalized multiwall carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) with tin oxide ( $SnO_2$ ) nanoparticles was described [129]. In this study, nitric acid treated MWCNTs was immersed in the tin(II) chloride solution which was sonicated and stirred at room temperature. This sample was centrifuged, rinsed with water, filtered and MWCNTs- $SnO_2$  was dispersed in distilled water. Carboxylic acid functionalized MWCNTs were fabricated by heating at reflux with

HNO<sub>3</sub> and dispersed in distilled water. This dispersed solution was dropped on the surface of glassy carbon electrode and water was evaporated. Uricase was immobilized on the MWCNTs-SnO<sub>2</sub>/ GCE or MWCNTs-COOH/GCE by drop coating for biosensor construction. It was reported that MWCNTs-SnO2 based biosensor showed higher electrocatalytic oxidation to uric acid than the carboxylic acid functionalized MWCNTs based biosensor. Common interfering compounds such as ascorbic acid and glucose showed no effect on the biosensor response at low uric acid concentrations. Biosensor was used for uric acid determination in dialysate samples in rat striatum. Chauan and Pundir [130] fabricated an amperometric uric acid biosensor by immobilizing uricase onto gold nanoparticle (AuNP)/multiwalled carbon nanotube (MWCNT) layer deposited on Au electrode. The enzyme was immobilized by carbodiimide linkage. Uric acid determination was based on oxidation of enzymatically generated H2O2 at +0.40 V. AuNPs were reported to enhance the current response and showed good catalytic activity towards H2O2 electrooxidation. The current response of MWCNT or AuNP-MWCNT modified electrodes was found to be higher than bare Au electrode due to the increase in effective electrode surface area. The biosensor was used to measure uric acid levels in serum of healthy persons and gout patients. No interference of electroactive compounds such as glucose, cholesterol, urea, pyruvate, bilirubin, CuSO<sub>4</sub>, KCl, FAD, NaCl, ZnSO<sub>4</sub>, NADH, CaCl<sub>2</sub>, EDTA, riboflavin, and MnCl<sub>2</sub> was reported. On the other hand ascorbic acid showed interference at its physiological concentration. Rawal et al. [131] fabricated a uric acid biosensor based on uricase immobilized on Prussian blue nanoparticles (PBNPs), carboxylated multiwalled carbon nanotube (cMWCNT) polyaniline (PANI) gold (Au) composite. Aniline was electropolymerized on Au electrode by cyclic voltammetry. The polyaniline (PANI) modified electrode was immersed into the cMWCNT solution to obtain the c-MWCNT/PANI/Au electrode. PBNPs were electrodeposited onto the c-MWCNT/PANI/Au electrode. Uricase was immobilized by crosslinking by chitosan and glutaraldehyde. A good correlation (r=0.99) was reported between serum uric acid values by the standard enzymatic colorimetric method and the presented method. An amperometric uric acid biosensor based on multiwalled carbon nanotubes (MWNTs) and ZnO nanoparticles was described [132]. Pyrolytic graphite (PG) wafers were modified with MWNTs and then ZnO nanoparticles were decorated onto the MWNT films. Uricase was cast on the ZnO-MWNT-PG electrode and dried at room temperature. Enzyme immobilization process was based on the isoelectric point differences of uricase and ZnO nanoparticles. The resulting enzyme electrode was coated with 0.5% polydiallyldimethylammonium chloride (PDDA) to eliminate the possible fouling and to prevent the leaching of the enzyme. Interference effect of ascorbic acid (AA), glucose, and L-cystine was investigated by DPV and it was reported that DPV responses of these compounds were successfully separated by the sensor. Bhambi et al. [133] described a uric acid biosensor by the immobilization of uricase onto a polyaniline-multiwalled carbon nanotube composite film by carbonamide linkage. This biosensor was applied to the determination of serum samples of healthy individuals and the persons suffering from hyperuricemia and gout. Zhang et al. [134] reported a uric acid biosensor based on uricase immobilized on ZnO nanorods. The surface of a glassy carbon electrode was modified with Nafion and ZnO nanorods were decorated onto the modified electrode. Uricase was immobilized onto ZnO modified film electrostatically. ZnO nanorods provided a high surface area and enhanced electron transfer between the electrode surface and enzyme. No interference of ascorbic acid (AA), glucose and L-cystine was reported.

Current developments in nanomaterial technology show that nanomaterial based biosensors have a great potential for uric acid determination. These biosensors are generally characterized by higher sensitivities, lower detection limits, and faster electron transfer kinetics in comparison to the other modified electrodes. Therefore, nanomaterials are likely to be a good choice to obtain improved sensing properties in uric acid biosensors.

#### 3.5. Self-assembled monolayer based electrodes

Self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) can be defined as ordered molecular assemblies formed spontaneously by adsorption of an active surfactant on a solid surface. Self-assembled monolayers are usually formed by the chemisorption of a head group that shows a specific affinity towards the substrate, followed by the organization of the tail group which consists of a functional group at the terminal end. Head and tail groups are usually connected through a chain or backbone which is the main structure of the molecule. SAMs of alkanethiolates on gold and silane based systems are the most widely known SAMs [135–137]. In biosensor applications, modified electrodes based on self-assembled monolayers have been extensively used due to their simple, reliable and reproducible formation and preparation. Furthermore SAMs provide a convenient platform to immobilize biomolecules [138].

Kuwabata et al. [98] immobilized uricase by crosslinking with glutaraldehyde to a self-assembled monolayer of 2-aminoethanethiolate prepared on Au electrode substrate.  $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}$ dissolved in solution was used as electron transfer mediator. Another amperometric uric acid biosensor was based on the microperoxidase-11 (MPx-11) covalently immobilized with 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethyaminopropyl)carbodiimide on the mixed self-assembled monolayer of 2-(2-mercaptoethylpyrazine) (PET) and 4,4'-dithiodibutyric acid (DTB) on gold electrode [139]. Mixed self-assemblies of PET and DTB were made by immersing the cleaned Au electrode in ethanol solutions containing PET and DTB. MPx-11 acted as a mediator for the reduction of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. Uricase was immobilized on the MPx-11 anchored electrode with chitosan. No interference of ascorbic acid and paracetemol was reported both in uric acid and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> determination. Ahuja et al. [140] immobilized uricase covalently on a self-assembled monolayer (SAM) of 3-aminopropyltriethoxysilane (APTES) using a crosslinker, Bis[sulfosuccinimidyl] suberate (BS3) on an indiumtin-oxide (ITO) coated glass plate. Amperometric response was measured as a function of uric acid concentration at  $+0.26 \,\mathrm{V}$  in phosphate buffer containing  $[Fe(CN)_6]^{3-}$ . The effective immobilization of the enzyme on the surface of the modified electrode improved sensitivity of the biosensor. Redox compounds such as 5-methylphenazinium (MP) and 1-methoxy-5-methylphenazinium (MMP) were investigated as mediators for UOX [141]. It was reported that MP and MMP were useful electron acceptors for UOX. Poly(N-methyl-o-phenylenediamine) (poly-MPD), a novel redox polymer, containing MP acted as a mediator for UOX. This polymer film was co-immobilized with UOX onto an Au electrode substrate covered with a self-assembled monolayer of 2-aminoethanethiolate. In another study Au substrate was coated with a self-assembled monolayer of n-octanethiolate (OT/Au) [142]. UOx and redox mediator 1-methoxy-5-methylphenazinium (MMP) were dissolved in the suspension of L-α-phosphatidylcholine  $\beta$ -oleoyl- $\gamma$ -palmitoyl (PCOP) liposomes and fixed in the bilayer of PCOP and *n*-octanethiol. The bilayer blocked the diffusion of ascorbic acid and uric acid and eliminated the interference effect.

#### 3.6. Screen printed electrodes

Screen printed technology can be used for the development of single use, disposable sensors for clinical, environmental and industrial analyses. Screen-printed electrodes (SPEs) are fabricated by printing different inks on various types of solid

substrates. This technique has advantages of simple construction, high reproducibility, low cost, and a wide choice of materials [143]. Among the various screen printed electrodes, screen printed carbon electrodes have gained more interest due to ease of fabrication and modification. However, very little studies have been reported in the area of screen printed carbon electrode based uric acid biosensors. Gilmartin and Hart [144] developed a uric acid biosensor based on cobalt phthalocyanine modified screen printed carbon electrode. The modified electrode was covered with cellulose acetate laver and uricase was immobilized on the cellulose acetate laver by drop coating method. Cellulose acetate film acted as a permselective membrane towards H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and electrochemical oxidation of the Co<sup>+</sup> species was evaluated as the analytical signal. This indirect measurement process of uric acid resulted in an application of reduced operating potential when compared with that required for the direct oxidation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> at unmodified electrodes. Luo et al. [81] reported an iridium-modified carbon electrode prepared by the thick film screen printing technique. The bases of working, counter and reference electrodes were prepared by screen printing gold ink for working and counter and silver ink for reference electrode on alumina substrate. The working electrode base was screen printed with Ir-C ink composed of Ir-C powder, polyethylenimine (PIE) and hydroxyethyl cellulose in phosphate buffer solution. Uricase was immobilized onto the surface of the working electrode with the casting method. Glutaraldehyde solution was cast on the electrode surface and glutaraldehyde was covalently bound with the amine group in the PEI; then uricase was immobilized on the electrode by crosslinking. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> detection was achieved at +0.25 V and a significant interference effect of ascorbic acid and uric acid was not observed at this potential.

A screen-printed carbon electrode modified with electrocatalyst cobalt phthalocvanine was reported as the base transducer for the fabrication of a uric acid biosensor. Cellulose acetate was deposited onto modified transducer and transducer was coated with uricase enzyme. A polycarbonate membrane was placed onto the resulting electrode to form the sandwich biosensor [80]. In this study enzymatically produced H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> reacts with the oxidized form of cobalt phthalocyanine to produce the reduced form. The reduced cobalt phthalocyanine is reoxidized on the electron surface. Uric acid determination based on H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> which can easily pass through the membrane prevented the interferences and direct oxidation of uric acid. Although, screen printed carbon electrode based uric acid biosensors have a lot of advantages such as disposability, portability, easy fabrication, they do not show very low detection limits. More efforts should be done to improve the detection limits.

#### 3.7. Langmuir-Blodgett film based electrodes

Langmuir-Blodgett (LB) films can be described as highly organized ultra thin organic films, ranging from one to several tens of molecular layers. In LB technique a thick Langmuir monolayer is formed at the air-water interface. Langmuir monolayer is transferred onto a solid substrate and multilayer films are fabricated on this solid substrate by the successive deposition of the monolayers [145]. Langmuir-Blodgett (LB) films have the advantages of controllable thickness and minimized loss of biomolecule activity [104,146]. Various biosensors based on Langmuir-Blodgett (LB) films have been developed [146-148]. However, the application of LB films in the area of uric acid biosensors is limited [103,149]. Langmuir-Blodgett technique was used to immobilize uricase enzyme on chitosan/Prussian blue prefunctionalized indium-tin oxide electrode for uric acid biosensor construction [103]. Another study reports the adsorption of uricase onto Langmuir monolayers of stearic acid and the transfer of monolayers to solid supports as Langmuir–Blodgett (LB) films [149]. As LB films show promise for the development of biosensors, more emphasis should be given to this technique in uric acid biosensors.

Table 3 presents a detailed comparison of significant characteristics of various uric acid biosensors based on modified electrodes.

# 4. Uric acid biosensors based on different modes of transducing devices

Yu et al. [150] reported a chemiluminescence biosensor based on a microfluidic paper-based analytical device. The sensing principle of the biosensor is the chemiluminescence reaction between rhodamine derivative and enzymatically generated H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. Chu et al. [151] reported an electrochemiluminescent biosensor for uric acid detection with luminol as a signaler. The uricase was immobilized in polypyrrole matrix on platinum electrode during electropolymerization. The biosensor is based on the electrochemiluminescent intensity of luminol increased by the enzymatically produced H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. The biosensor shows linear response to uric acid from  $7.5 \times 10^{-11} - 8.3 \times 10^{-6}$  M with a detection limit of 75 pM. Another electrochemiluminescent biosensor for uric acid was fabricated based on gold screen-printed cells. Luminol-3,3′,5,5′-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) copolymer was prepared by cyclic voltammetry on gold screen-printed cells and chitosan-uricase mixture was dropped onto the working electrode. The uric acid response of the biosensor is linear between  $1.5 \times 10^{-6}$  and  $1.0 \times 10^{-4}\,\text{M}$  and the detection limit is  $4.4 \times 10^{-7}$  M. Interference effect of urea and ascorbic acid was reported; however this effect was eliminated by the dilution of the samples [152].

Martinez-Pérez et al. [153] developed a reagentless fluorescent sol-gel biosensor for uric acid detection. The sol-gel was prepared by the encapsulation of uricase, horseradish peroxidase and amplex red. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> produced by the enzymatic reaction of uricase leads to the oxidation of amplex red to flourescent resorufin in the presence of horseradish peroxidase. Biosensor response was reported to be linear up to 1 µM with a detection limit of 20 nM. The effect of interferences was eliminated by the dilution of the samples. Schrenkhammer and Wolfbeis [154] reported an optical uric acid biosensor. Ruthenium-based oxygen sensitive beads and iridium-based oxygen sensitive beads was prepared and used as fluorescent probe for oxygen. Glutaraldehyde was used for crosslinking of uricase. Ruthenium-based oxygen sensitive beads or iridium-based oxygen sensitive beads were dispersed in a solution of polyurethane hydrogel; crosslinked uricase was immobilized into the hydrogel to fabricate two types of biosensors. The response of the biosensor is based on the consumption of oxygen during the enzyme catalyzed oxidation of uric acid. Iridium based biosensor showed linear response to uric acid between 5 and 600  $\mu M$  with a detection limit of 2  $\mu M$  and the response time was reported as 1.3 min. Ruthenium based biosensor showed linear response to uric acid between 5 and 800  $\mu$ M with a detection limit of 5  $\mu$ M and the response time was reported as 1.2 min.

A potentiometric uric acid biosensor based on immobilization of uricase onto zinc oxide nanowires grown on a gold coated flexible plastic electrode was fabricated [155]. The response of the potentiometric biosensor was linear from 1  $\mu M$  to 650  $\mu M$  with a detection limit of 1  $\mu M$ . No significant effect of the common interferences was reported. When the same enzyme electrode was covered with nafion membrane the linear working range was found to be 1–1000  $\mu M$ . However, the response time increased from 6.25 s to 9 s with the use of the membrane. Wu et al. [156] developed a pH sensitive electrolyte–insulator–semiconductor

**Table 3**Characteristics of uric acid biosensors based on modified electrodes.

Enzyme, immobilization technique and matrix used	Uricase source	Detection limit	Linear range	Sensitivity	Stability	Response time	Applications	Ref.
UOX, doping and undoping of the polymer, polyaniline film	Aspergillus niger	-	0.0036-1.0 mmol/dm <sup>3</sup>	-	18% loss after 60 days	-	-	[67]
UOX, doping and undoping of the polymer, polyaniline film	Aspergillus niger	-	$1.0 \times 10^{-3}$ – $1.0 \text{ mmol dm}^{-3}$	-		-	_	[82]
UOX, glutaraldehyte cross-linking, polyaniline film	Bacillus fastidious	0.01 mM	0.01-0.05 mM 0.1-0.6 mM	47.2 mA mM <sup>-1</sup> 10.66 mA mM <sup>-1</sup>	5% loss after 17–18 weeks	60 s	Uric acid in serum	[117]
UOX, doping and undoping of the polymer, polyaniline film	Pig liver	-	0.001–0.5 mmol dm <sup>-3</sup>	-	19% loss after 50 days	-	-	[118]
UOX, glutaraldehyte cross-linking, polyaniline-polypyrrole film	Microorganism	$1.0\times 10^{-6}~M$	$2.5\times 10^{-6} - 8.5\times 10^{-5}~M$	-	20% loss after 4 weeks	70 s	-	[120]
UOX, layer by layer, poly(ethylene imine) (PEI) or poly(diallyldimethylammoniumchloride) (PDAC) films	Bacillus fastidiosus	$\begin{array}{l} 0.15~\mu\text{A} \\ \mu\text{mol } l^{-1}~\text{cm}^{-2} \end{array}$	0.1-0.6 μΜ	-	30-40% loss after 30 days	2 s (PDAC) and 6 s (PEI)	-	[121]
UOX, mixed with chitosan solution, hemoglobin encapsulated chitosan matrix	_	0.85 μΜ	2.0–30 μΜ	29.5 μA mM <sup>-1</sup>	11% loss after 20 days	60 s	Uric acid in urine	[123]
UOX, glutaraldehyte cross-linking, 1,4-benzoquinone modified carbon paste	Arthrobacter globiformis	$1.9\times10^{-8}\;M$	$1.9 \times 10^{-8} - 2.8 \times 10^{-7} \text{ M}$ $4.8 \times 10^{-6} - 2.8 \times 10^{-5} \text{ M}$ $3.5 \times 10^{-5} - 4.9 \times 10^{-4} \text{ M}$ $6.3 \times 10^{-4} - 2.7 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M}$	-	15% loss after 15 days	150 s	Uric acid in serum	[125]
UOX, glutaraldehyte cross-linking, poly(vinylferrocenium) modified carbon paste	Arthrobacter globiformis	$7.4\times10^{-8}\;M$	$7.4 \times 10^{-8} - 2.8 \times 10^{-7} \text{ M}$ $5.0 \times 10^{-6} - 9.0 \times 10^{-5} \text{ M}$ $3.0 \times 10^{-4} - 7.0 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M}$	-	68% loss after 30 days	120 s	Uric acid in serum	[125]
UOX, electrostatic binding, ZnO film	Arthrobacter globiformis	$2.0\times10^{-6}~M$	$5.0 \times 10^{-6}  1.0 \times 10^{-3} \text{ M}$	-	19.5% loss after 20 days	-	Uric acid in urine	[134]
UOX, drop coating, $SnO_2$ modified multiwalled carbon nanotube	Arthrobacter globiformis	$5.0 \times 10^{-8} \ mol \ L^{-1}$	$1.0 \times 10^{-7} - 5.0 \times 10^{-4} \text{ mol L}^{-1}$	-	20.5% loss after 20 days	-	Uric acid in rat striatum	
UOX, carbodiimide linkage, multiwalled carbon nanotube-gold nanoparticle composite	-	0.01 mM	0.01-0.8 mM	-	45% loss after 4 months	7 s	Uric acid in serum	[130]
UOX, chitosan-glutaraldehyde crosslinking, Prussian blue nanoparticles, carboxylated multiwalled carbon nanotube, polyaniline, gold composite	-	5 μΜ	0.005-0.8 mM	-	37% loss after 7 months	4 s	Uric acid in serum	[131]
UOX, electrostatic binding, ZnO nanoparticles modified multiwalled carbon nanotubes	Arthrobacter globiformis	2.0 mM	5.0 μM-1 mM	393 mA cm <sup>-2</sup> M <sup>-1</sup>	11% loss after 160 days	-	Uric acid in urine	[132]
UOX, drop casting, MPx-11 modified mixed self-assembled monolayer of 2-(2-mercaptoethylpyrazine) and 4,4'-dithiodibutyric acid	Candida sp.	$2\times 10^{\text{-}6}\;M$	$5 \times 10^{-6}$ – $1.5 \times 10^{-4}$ M	$3.4\pm0.08$ nA cm- $2\mu M\text{-}1$	-	10 s (low conc.) 80–100 s (high conc.)	-	[139]
UOX, Bis[sulfosuccinimidyl] suberate (BS3) cross-linking, self- assembled monolayer (SAM) of 3-aminopropyltriethoxysilane (APTES)	Bacillus fastidiosus	0.037 mM	0.05-0.58 mM	39.35 μAmM+	10% loss after 7 weeks	50 s	-	[140]
UOX, glutaraldehyde crosslinking, poly(N-methyl-o- phenylenediamine)modified self-assembled monolayer of 2-aminoethanethiolate	Candida sp.	_	0.15-0.40 mmol dm <sup>-3</sup>	$0.066~\mu\textrm{A}~\textrm{cm}^{-2}$	-	30 s	-	[141]
UOX, enzyme was dissolved in the suspension of L-α- phosphatidylcholine β-oleoyl-γ-palmitoyl (PCOP) liposomes.	Candida sp.	-	-	$0.95 \pm 0.01~\mu A~cm^{-2}$	-	20 s	-	[142]
UOX, enzyme was coated on cobalt phthalocyanine modified screen printed carbon electrode	Arthrobacter globiformis	$1.3\times10^{-5}\;M$	$1.3\times 10^{-5}6\times 10^{-3}~M$	-	14% loss after 7 days	44 s	Uric acid in urine	[144]
UOX, casting method, Ir-modified carbon ink	Bacillus	0.01 mM	0.1-0.8 mM	$16.60~\mu AmM^{-1}$	-	24.7-40.8 s	-	[81]
UOX, cellulose acetate deposited screen-printed carbon electrode pre-modified with electrocatalyst cobalt phthalocyanine	fastidiosus Arthrobacter globiformis	0.015 mM	0.015-0.25 mM	2.10 μA/mM	-	-	Uric acid in urine	[80]

sensor with a layer of Sm2TiO<sub>5</sub> for uric acid detection. Uricase was immobilized into alginate hydrogel and this layer was attached to the electrolyte-insulator-semiconductor sensor. The detection mechanism of the sensor is based on the pH changes due to the reduction of enzymatically formed H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. Uricase was immobilized into stabilized lipid films using zinc oxide nanowires to fabricate a potentiometric uric acid biosensor [157]. The biosensor response was reported to be linear between 1 and 1000 µM with a detection limit of 0.4 µM and the response time was 6 s. Ascorbic acid, glucose, urea, proteins and lipids showed no interference effect. Liao et al. [158] prepared a potentiometric uric acid biosensor by the immobilization of catalase, uricase and ferrocenecarboxylic acid (mediator) on the surface of SnO<sub>2</sub>-indium tin oxide glass. 3-Glycidyloxypropyltrimethoxysilane was used to activate the SnO<sub>2</sub> film surface and form a convenient matrix for enzyme and mediator immobilization. The biosensor showed linear response to uric acid between 2 and 7 mg/dL with a response time of 3.5 minutes. No significant interference effect of ascorbic acid, glucose and urea was reported.

Mulyasuryani and Srihardiastutie [159] developed a conductometric uric acid biosensor. Nata de coco (fermantation product from coconut water by Acetobacter xylinum) membrane was prepared from coconut water, sugar, acetic acid and Acetobacter xylinum. Uricase was immobilized on a nata de coco membrane-Pt electrode. The biosensor response to uric acid was linear between 1 and 6 ppm. The response time of the biosensor was reported to be three minutes. The biosensor was used for uric acid determination in human serum samples. A conductometric single ZnO nanowire based field-effect transistor (FET) biosensor was developed for uric acid determination [164]. Single ZnO nanowires were synthesized by the chemical vapor deposition method. ZnO and carbon power were mixed and transferred into an Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> boat inside a quartz tube. This reaction system was kept at 980 °C under argon (carrier gas) and oxygen (reaction gas) flow for 20 minutes for ZnO nanowire formation. Uricase was covalently immobilized to the surface of the biosensor. The detection of the biosensor was reported as 1 pM.

#### 5. Conclusions and future trends

Uric acid is a primary end product of purine metabolism in humans. Abnormal uric acid levels in biological fluids are symptoms of several conditions. Therefore, the demand for the routine analysis of uric acid is increasing, and simple, rapid and low-cost methods for its determination are necessary. Electrochemical sensors based on the oxidation of uric acid seem to be a good approach for uric acid determination. However, these sensors generally suffer from varying degrees of interference from ascorbic acid or dopamine which can be oxidized at a potential close to that of uric acid. Incorparation of enzymes in electrochemical sensors can be a solution to this problem. Uric acid can be efficiently determined using amperometric biosensors. In this review recent work in the development of amperometric uric acid biosensors with an emphasis on the detection mechanisms, types of immobilization techniques and the different types of electrodes used are described in detail. The comparative characteristics of the various uric acid biosensors have been summarized in the tables.

In the market commercial uric acid meters such as Benechek Plus meter [160], Multisure uric acid meter [161], Easytouch uric acid monitoring system [162] and uric acid test kits [163] are available. In commercial meters the single use strips and sterile lanchets increase the cost of the analysis and the analysis time with the test kit is not very short (30 min). Moreover, the cost of the enzymes used in the kit limits the practical use. On the other hand, in biosensor technology, the immobilization of enzymes on a convenient substrate reduces the cost of the procedure. For practical applications of uric acid biosensors, problems like interference, reproducibility, stability and real sample measurements present the major limitations. Hence, the development of cheap, rapid, accurate and disposable biosensors for the detection of uric acid is still needed. At this point, screen-printed electrodes offer without doubt an important approach toward the development of disposable, selective, sensitive uric acid biosensors for routine analysis. Recent developments in microelectrode fabrication and screen printing technology suggest that future efforts could vield low cost, commercially available, screen-printed electrode based uric acid biosensors. Electrochemical biosensors. based on nanomaterials (carbon nanotubes, nanorods, nanometal oxides etc.) also offer great promise for uric acid biosensor development. We believe that improvements in nanomaterials and nanofabrication technologies will also lead to the fabrication of small, low cost, portable and disposable commercial uric acid biosensors. This approach can also be expanded for the construction of biocompatible uric acid biosensors for in vivo measurements.

#### References

- [1] I. Grabowska, M. Chudy, A. Dybko, Z. Brzozka, Sens. Actuators B 130 (2008) 508-513.
- [2] R. Kand'ár, P. Žáková, V. Muźáková, Clin. Chim. Acta 365 (2006) 249-256.
- [3] J. Dawson, M. Walters, Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 62 (2006) 633-644.
- [4] C. Retra Raj, T. Ohsaka, J. Electroanal. Chem. 540 (2003) 69-77.
- [5] G.F. Falasca, Clin. Dermatol. 24 (2006) 498-508.
- [6] T.R. Merriman, N. Dalbeth, Joint Bone Spine 78 (2011) 35-40.
- [7] T. Nakagawa, D.-H. Kang, D. Feig, L.G. Sanchez-Lozada, T.R. Srinivas, Y. Sautin, A.A. Ejaz, M. Segal, R.J. Johnson, Kidney Int. 69 (2006) 1722-1725.
- [8] W.L. Nyhan, I. Inher., Metab. Dis. 20 (1997) 171–178.
- [9] P.J. Cannon, W.B. Stason, F.E. Demartini, S.C. Sommers, J.H. Laragh, N. Engl. J. Med. 275 (1966) 457-464.
- [10] F. Jossa, E. Farinaro, S. Panico, V. Krogh, E. Celentano, R. Galasso, M. Mancini, M. Trevisan, J. Hum., Hyperten 8 (1994) 677-681.
- [11] V. Lohsoonthorn, B. Dhanamun, M.A. Williams, Arch. Med. Res. 37 (2006) 883-889
- [12] A.C.M. Gagliardi, M.H. Miname, R.D. Santos, Atherosclerosis 202 (2009) 11 - 17.
- [13] J. Fang, M.H. Alderman, JAMA 283 (2000) 2404-2410.
- [14] G. Lippi, M. Montagnana, M. Franchini, E.J. Favaloro, G. Targher, Clin. Chim. Acta 392 (2008) 1-7.
- [15] J. Galbán, Y. Andreu, M.J. Almenara, S. Marcos, J.R. Castillo, Talanta 54 (2001) 847-854.
- [16] H.A. Bulger, H.E. Johns, J. Biol. Chem. 140 (1941) 427-440.
- F. Wu, Y. Huang, Q. Li, Anal. Chim. Acta 536 (2005) 107-113.
- [18] H.-C. Hong, H.-J. Huang, Anal. Chim. Acta 499 (2003) 41–46.
- [19] D. He, Z. Zhang, Y. Huang, Y. Hu, H. Zhou, D. Chen, Luminescence 20 (2005) 271-275
- [20] D.L. Rocha, F.R.P. Rocha, Microchem. J. 94 (2010) 53-59.
- [21] J. Perello, P. Sanchis, F. Grases, J. Chromatogr. B 824 (2005) 175–180.
- [22] F.Y. Zhao, Z.H. Wang, H. Wang, R. Zhao, M.Y. Ding, Chin. Chem. Lett. 22 (2011) 342-345
- [23] X. Dai, X. Fang, C. Zhang, R. Xu, B. Xu, J. Chromatogr. B 857 (2007) 287-295.
- [24] D.-K. Xu, L. Hua, Z.-M. Li, H.-Y. Chen, J. Chromatogr. B 694 (1997) 461-466. [25] S. Zhao, J. Wang, F. Ye, Y.-M. Liu, Anal. Biochem. 378 (2008) 127-131.
- [26] A.K. Bhargava, H. Lal, C.S. Pundir, J. Biochem. Biophys. Methods 39 (1999) 125-136
- [27] K. Shi, K.-K. Shiu, Electroanalysis 13 (2001) 1319-1325.
- [28] S.B. Revin, S.A. John, Bioelectrochemistry 88 (2012) 22-29.
- [29] S. Prakash, T. Chakrabarty, A.M. Rajesh, V.K. Shahi, Measurement 45 (2012) 500-506.
- [30] L. Zheng, S. Wu, X. Lin, L. Nie, L. Rui, Electroanalysis 13 (2001) 1351-1354.
- [31] X. Tian, C. Cheng, H. Yuan, J. Du, D. Xiao, S. Xie, M.M.F. Choi, Talanta 93 (2012) 79-85.
- [32] R.M.A. Tehrani, S.A. Ghani, Sens. Actuators B 145 (2010) 20-24. [33] J. Wang, W.-D. Zhang, J. Electroanal. Chem. 654 (2011) 79-84.
- [34] S.B. Revin, S.A. John, Electrochim. Acta 56 (2011) 8934-8940.
- [35] J.-M. Zen, C.-T. Hsu, Talanta 46 (1998) 1363–1369.
- [36] Y.R. Wang, P. Hu, Q.L. Liang, G.A. Luo, Y.M. Wang, Chin. Chem. Lett. 18 (2007) 1111-1114.
- B. Fang, Y. Feng, G. Wang, C. Zhang, A. Gu, M. Liu, Microchim. Acta 173 (2011) 27-32.
- [38] Y. Wang, Microchim. Acta 172 (2011) 419-424.
- [39] Y. Li, G. Ran, W.J. Yi, H.Q. Luo, N.B. Li, Microchim. Acta 178 (2012) 115-121.

- [40] S.A. John, J. Electroanal. Chem. 579 (2005) 249-256.
- [41] Y. Cui, C. Yang, W. Pu, M. Oyama, J. Zhang, Anal. Lett. 43 (2010) 22-33.
- [42] F. Sekli-Belaidi, P. Temple-Boyer, P. Gros, J. Electroanal. Chem. 647 (2010) 159–168.
- [43] J.-L. Chang, K.-H. Chang, C.-C. Hu, W.-L. Cheng, J.-M. Zen, Electrochem. Commun. 12 (2010) 596–599.
- [44] J.C.K. Mbouguen, I.T. Kenfack, A. Walcarius, E. Ngameni, Talanta 85 (2011) 754–762.
- [45] P. Kalimuthu, S.A. John, Talanta 80 (2010) 1686-1691.
- [46] B. Habibi, M.H. Pournaghi-Azar, Electrochim. Acta 55 (2010) 5492-5498.
- [47] H. Bi, Y. Li, S. Liu, P. Guo, Z. Wei, C. Lv, J. Zhang, X.S. Zhao, Sens. Actuators B 171–172 (2012) 1132–1140.
- [48] Y. Yue, G. Hu, M. Zheng, Y. Guo, J. Cao, S. Shao, Carbon 50 (2012) 107-114.
- [49] L.C. Clark Jr., C. Lyons, N.Y. Ann, Acad. Sci. 102 (1962) 29-45.
- [50] P. D'Orazio, Clin. Chim. Acta 334 (2003) 41-69.
- [51] J. Castillo, S. Gáspár, S. Leth, M. Niculescu, A. Mortari, I. Bontidean, V. Soukharev, S.A. Dorneanu, A.D. Ryabov, E. Csöregi, Sens. Actuators B 102 (2004) 179–194.
- [52] J.J. Gooding, Anal. Chim. Acta 559 (2006) 137-151.
- [53] M. Mehrvar, M. Abdi, Anal. Sci. 20 (2004) 1113-1125.
- [54] D.G. Buerk, Biosensors Theory and Applications, Technomic Publishing, Pennsylvania U.S.A, 1993.
- [55] P.J. Conroy, S. Hearty, P. Leonard, R.J. O'Kennedy, Semin. Cell Dev. Bio. 20 (2009) 10–26.
- [56] S.K. Arya, S. Saha, J.E. Ramirez-Vick, V. Gupta, S. Bhansali, S.P. Singh, Anal. Chim. Acta 737 (2012) 1–21.
- [57] S.V.H. Lai, P. Kao, S. Tadigadapa, Proc. Eng. 25 (2011) 1381-1384.
- [58] X. Lu, Z. Xu, X. Yan, S. Li, W. Ren, Z. Cheng, Curr. Appl. Phys. 11 (2011) S285–S287.
- [59] R. Amin, A. Kulkarni, T. Kim, S.H. Park, Curr. Appl. Phys. 12 (2012) 841–845.
- [60] A. Roda, L. Cevenini, E. Michelini, B.R. Branchini, Biosens. Bioelectron. 26 (2011) 3647–3653.
- [61] L. Wang, X. Wang, X. Chen, J. Liu, S. Liu, C. Zhao, Bioelectrochemistry 88 (2012) 30–35.
- [62] Y. Lei, W. Chen, A. Mulchandani, Anal. Chim. Acta 568 (2006) 200-210.
- [63] G. Bagni, D. Osella, E. Sturchio, M. Macsini, Anal. Chim. Acta 573–574 (2006) 81–89.
- [64] D. Grieshaber, R. MacKenzie, J. Vörös, E. Reimhult, Sensors 8 (2008) 1400–1458.
- [65] E. Akyılmaz, M.K. Sezgintürk, E. Dinçkaya, Talanta 61 (2003) 73-79.
- [66] E. Miland, M.A.J. Ordieres, T.P. Blanco, M.R. Smyth, C.O. Fágáin, Talanta 43 (1996) 785–796.
- [67] J. Kan, X. Pan, C. Chen, Biosens. Bioelectron. 19 (2004) 1635-1640.
- [68] J. Motonaka, K. Miyata, L.R. Faulkner, Anal. Lett. 27 (1994) 1-13.
- [69] M. Jänchen, G. Walzel, B. Neef, B. Wolf, F. Scheller, M. Kühn, D. Pfeiffer, W. Sojka, W. Jaross, Biomed. Biochim. Acta 42 (1983) 1055–1065.
- [70] O. Schiavon, P. Caliceti, P. Ferruti, F.M. Veronese, Il Farmaco 55 (2000) 264–269.
- [71] X.W. Wu, C.C. Lee, D.M. Muzny, C.T. Caskey, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 86 (1989) 9412–9416.
- [72] Y. Nakajima, G.H. Bourne, Histochemie 22 (1970) 20-24.
- [73] H. Suzuki, D.P.S. Verma, Plant Physiol. 95 (1991) 384–389.
- [74] P. Montalbini, J. Redondo, J.L. Caballero, J. Cárdenas, M. Pineda, Planta 202 (1997) 277–283.
- [75] P. Montalbini, M. Aguilar, M. Pineda, Plant Sci. 147 (1999) 139-147.
- [76] V. Adamek, M. Suchova, K. Demnerova, B. Kralova, I. Fort, P. Morava, J. Ind. Microbiol. 6 (1990) 85–90.
- [77] K. Yamamoto, Y. Kojima, T. Kikuchi, T. Shigyo, K. Sugihara, M. Takashio, S. Emi, J. Biochem. 119 (1996) 80–84.
- [78] J. Keilin, Biol. Rev. 34 (1959) 265-296.
- [79] S. Hayashi, S. Fujiwara, T. Noguchi, J. Biol. Chem. 264 (1989) 3211–3215.
- [80] P. Kanyong, R.M. Pemberton, S.K. Jackson, J.P. Hart, Anal. Biochem. 428 (2012) 39–43.
- [81] Y.-C. Luo, J.-S. Do, C.-C. Liu, Biosens. Bioelectron. 22 (2006) 482-488.
- [82] Y. Jiang, A. Wang, J. Kan, Sens. Actuators B 124 (2007) 529-534.
- [83] Z. Chen, C. Fang, H. Wang, J. He, Z. Deng, Sens. Actuators B 129 (2008) 710–715.
- [84] H. Sántha, R. Dobay, G. Harsányi, IEEE Sens. J. 3 (2003) 282–287.
- [85] M. Şenel, E. Çevik, M.F. Abasıyanık, Sens. Actuators B 145 (2010) 444–450.
- [86] L. Zhu, R. Yang, J. Zhai, C. Tian, Biosens. Bioelectron. 23 (2007) 528-535.
- [87] O. Smutok, B. Ngounou, H. Pavlishko, G. Gayda, M. Gonchar, W. Schuhmann, Sens. Actuators B 113 (2006) 590–598.
- [88] E.F. Perez, O. Neto, L.T. Kubota, Sens. Actuators B 72 (2001) 80–85.
- [89] M. Nanjo, G.G. Gailbault, Anal. Chem. 46 (1974) 1769-1772.
- [90] S. Uchiyama, H. Shimizu, Y. Hasebe, Anal. Chem. 66 (1994) 1873–1876.
- [91] S. Uchiyama, H. Sakamoto, Talanta 44 (1997) 1435-1439.
- [92] Y. Zhang, G. Wen, Y. Zhou, S. Shuang, C. Dong, M.M.F. Choi, Biosens. Bioelectron. 22 (2007) 1791–1797.
- [93] J. Arora, S. Nandwani, M. Bhambi, C.S. Pundir, Anal. Chim. Acta 647 (2009) 195–201.
- [94] X. Wang, T. Hagiwara, S. Uchiyama, Anal.Chim. Acta 587 (2007) 41-46.
- [95] Y.-Q. Zhang, W.-D. Shen, R.-A. Gu, J. Zhu, R.-Y. Xue, Anal. Chim. Acta 369 (1998) 123–128.
- [96] S. Cete, A. Yaşar, F. Arslan, Artif. Cell Blood Sub. 34 (2006) 367–380.
- [97] R.F. Dutra, K.A. Moreira, M.I.P. Oliveira, A.N. Araújo, M.C.B.S. Montenegro, J.L.L. Filho, V.L. Silva, Electroanalysis 17 (2005) 701–705.

- [98] S. Kuwabata, T. Nakaminami, S. Ito, H. Yoneyama, Sens. Actuators B 52 (1998) 72–77.
- [99] K. Arora, M. Tomar, V. Gupta, Biosens. Bioelectron. 30 (2011) 333–336.
- [100] K. Jindal, M. Tomar, V. Gupta, Biosens. Bioelectron. 38 (2012) 11–18.[101] W. Tsai, S. Wen, Anal. Lett. 39 (2006) 891–901.
- [102] A.A. Karyakin, E.E. Karyakina, Sens. Actuators B 57 (1999) 268–273.
- [103] X. Wang, F. Yin, Y. Tu, Anal. Lett. 43 (2010) 1507-1515.
- [104] F. Yin, A.K.M. Kafi, H.-K. Shin, Y.-S. Kwon, Colloid Surf. A 284–285 (2006) 125–129.
- [105] D. Iveković, M. Japec, M. Solar, N. Živković, Int. J. Electrochem. Sci. 7 (2012) 3252–3264.
- [106] T. Hoshi, H. Saiki, J. Anzai, Talanta 61 (2003) 363–368.
- [107] F.H. Keedy, P. Vadgama, Biosens. Bioelectron. 6 (1991) 491–499.
- [108] T. Ahujaa, I.A. Mira, D.Kumar Rajesh, Biomaterials 28 (2007) 791–805.
- [109] M. Gerard, A. Chaubey, B.D. Malhotra, Biosens. Bioelectron. 17 (2002) 345–359.
- [110] F.R.R. Teles, L.P. Fonseca, Mater. Sci. Eng. C 28 (2008) 1530-1543.
- [111] L.D. Mello, L.T. Kubota, Food Chem. 77 (2002) 237–256.
- [112] A. Sassolas, L.J. Blum, B.D. Leca-Bouvier, Biotechnol. Adv. 30 (2012) 489–511.
- [113] C. Spahn, S.D. Minteer, Recent Patents Eng. 2 (2008) 195-200.
- [114] M. Yuqing, C. Jianrong, W. Xiaohu, Trends Biotechnol. 22 (2004) 227–231.
- [115] S. Mu, J. Electroanal. Chem. 370 (1994) 135-139.
- [116] K. Jinqing, X. Huaiguo, M. Shaolin, C. Hong, Synth. Met. 87 (1997) 205–209.
- [117] K. Arora, G. Sumana, V. Saxena, R.K. Gupta, S.K. Gupta, J.V. Yakhmi, M.K. Pandey, S. Chand, B.D. Malhotra, Anal. Chim. Acta 594 (2007) 17–23.
- [118] X. Pan, S. Zhou, C. Chen, J. Kan, Sens. Actuators B 113 (2006) 329-334.
- [119] S. Mu, J. Kan, J. Zhou, J Electroanal. Chem. 334 (1992) 121–123.
- [120] F. Arslan, Sensors 8 (2008) 5492-5500.
- [121] M.L. Moraes, U.P. Rodrigues Filho, O.N. Oliveira Jr., M. Ferreira, J. Solid State Electrochem. 11 (2007) 1489–1495.
- [122] S. Kurşun, B.Z. Ekinci, A. Paşahan, E. Ekinci, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 120 (2011) 406–410.
- [123] C. Zhao, L. Wan, Q. Wang, S. Liu, K. Jiao, Anal. Sci. 25 (2009) 1013-1017.
- [124] I. Švancara, K. Vytas, J. Barek, J. Zima, Crit. Rev. Anal. Chem. 31 (2001) 311–345.
- [125] P.E. Erden, Ş. Pekyardımcı, E. Kılıç, Collect. Czech. Chem. Commun. 76 (2011) 1055–1073.
- [126] A. Kaushik, R. Khan, P.R. Solanki, P. Pandey, J. Alam, S. Ahmad, B.D. Malhotra, Biosens. Bioelectron. 24 (2008) 676–683.
- [127] C.B. Jacobs, M.J. Peairs, B.J. Venton, Anal. Chim. Acta 662 (2010) 105–127.
- [128] S.K. Vashist, D. Zheng, K. Al-Rubeaan, J.H.T. Luong, F.-S. Sheu, Biotechnol. Adv. 29 (2011) 169–188.
- [129] F.-F. Zhang, X.-L. Wang, C.-X. Li, X.-H. Li, Q. Wan, Y.-Z. Xian, L.-T. Jin, K. Yamamoto, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 382 (2005) 1368–1373.
- [130] N. Chauhan, C.S. Pundir, Anal. Biochem. 413 (2011) 97-103.
- [131] R. Rawal, S. Chawla, N. Chauhan, T. Dahiya, C.S. Pundir, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 50 (2012) 112–118.
- [132] Y. Wang, L. Yu, Z. Zhu, J. Zhang, J. Zhu, Anal. Lett. 42 (2009) 775–789.
- [133] M. Bhambi, G. Sumana, B.D. Malhotra, C.S. Pundir, Artif. Cell Blood Sub. 38 (2010) 178–185.
- [134] F. Zhang, X. Wang, S. Ai, Z. Sun, Q. Wan, Z. Zhu, Y. Xian, L. Jin, K. Yamamoto, Anal. Chim. Acta 519 (2004) 155–160.
- [135] F. Schreiber, Prog. Surf. Sci. 65 (2000) 151–256.
- [136] A. Ulman, Chem. Rev. 96 (1996) 1533–1554.
- [137] E. Pensa, E. Cortes, G. Corthey, P. Corro, C. Vericat, M.H. Fonticelli, G. Benitez, A.A. Rubert, R.C. Salvarezza, Acc. Chem. Res. 45 (2012) 1183–1192.
- [138] N.K. Chaki, K. Vijayamohanan, Biosens. Bioelectron. 17 (2002) 1-12.
- [139] S. Behera, C.R. Raj, Biosens. Bioelectron. 23 (2007) 556–561.
- [140] T. Ahuja, D. Kumar, V.K. Tanwar, V. Sharma, N. Singh, A.M. Biradar, Thin Solid Films 519 (2010) 1128–1134.
- [141] T. Nakaminami, S. Ito, S. Kuwabata, H. Yoneyama, Anal. Chem. 71 (1999) 1928–1934.
- [142] T. Nakaminami, S. Ito, S. Kuwabata, H. Yoneyama, Anal. Chem. 71 (1999) 4278–4283.
- [143] O. Domínguez Renedo, M.A. Alonso-Lomillo, M.J. Arcos Martínez, Talanta 73 (2007) 202–219.
- [144] M.A. Gilmartin, J.P. Hart, Analyst 119 (1994) 833-840.
- [145] O.N. Oliveira Jr., Braz. J. Phys. 22 (1992) 60-69.
- [146] Z. Matharu, S.K. Arya, S.P. Singh, V. Gupta, B.D. Malhotra, Anal. Chim. Acta 634 (2009) 243–249.
- [147] K.-H. Wang, M.-J. Syu, C.-H. Chang, Y.-L. Lee, Sens. Actuators B 164 (2012) 29–36.
- [148] J. Cabaj, J. Sołoducho, A. Nowakowska-Oleksy, Sens. Actuators B 143 (2010) 508–515.
- [149] N.C.M. Zanon, O.N. Oliveira Jr., L. Caseli, J. Colloid Interf. Sci. 373 (2012) 69–74.
- [150] J. Yu, S. Wang, L. Ge, S. Ge, Biosens. Bioelectron. 26 (2011) 3284-3289.
- [151] H. Chu, X. Wei, M. Wu, J. Yan, Y. Tu, Sens. Actuators B 163 (2012) 247-252.
- [152] J. Ballesta-Claver, I.F. Díaz Ortega, M.C. Valencia-Mirón, L.F. Capitán-Vallvey, Anal. Chim. Acta 702 (2011) 254–261.
- [153] D. Martinez-Pérez, M.L. Ferrer, C.R. Mateo, Anal. Biochem. 322 (2003) 238–242.
- [154] P. Schrenkhammer, O.S. Wolfbeis, Biosens. Bioelectron. 24 (2008) 994–999.
- [155] S.M. Usman Ali, N.H. Alvi, Z. Ibupoto, O. Nur, M. Willander, B. Danielsson, Sens. Actuators B 152 (2011) 241–247.

- [156] M.-H. Wu, T.-W. Lin, M.-D. Huang, H.-Y. Wang, T.-M. Pan, Sens. Actuators B 146 (2010) 342–348.
- [157] N. Tzamtzis, V.N. Psychoyios, G.-P. Nikoleli, D.P. Nikolelis, N. Psaroudakis, M. Willander, M.Q. Israr, Electroanalysis 24 (2012) 1719–1725.
- [158] C.W. Liao, J.C. Chou, T.P. Sun, S.K. Hsiung, J.H. Hsieh, IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 53 (2006) 1401–1408.
- [159] A. Mulyasuryani, A. Srihardiastutie, Anal. Chem. Insights 6 (2011) 47–51.
- [160] General Life Biotechnology Co, Ltd. Rui-Guang Road Taipei City, 114, Taiwan, <a href="http://www.glbiotech.com.tw/index.php">http://www.glbiotech.com.tw/index.php</a>.
- [161] Apex Biotechnology Coorparation, Taiwan, <a href="http://www.apexbio.com/index.php">http://www.apexbio.com/index.php</a>
- [162] Bioptik Technology Incoorparation, Easy Touch Biotechnology, Jhonghua South Road. Jhuan Township, Miaoli County, 35057, Taiwan <a href="http://www.easytouchmeter.com.tw/eng">http://www.easytouchmeter.com.tw/eng</a>.
- [163] BioAssay Systems, 3191 Corporate Place Hayward, C.A. 94545 U. S. A \(\langle \text{http://www.bioassaysys.com/products.php} \rangle.
- [164] X. Liu, P. Lin, X. Yan, Z. Kang, Y. Zhao, Y. Lei, C. Li, H. Du, Y. Zhang, Sens. Actuators B 176 (2012) 22-27.